IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC03-179

CHRISTOPHER BRYANT MOSLEY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Christopher Bryant Mosley, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of 14 volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee was arrested on March 11, 1998, in Columbia County, after a high-speed chase that had commenced in Alachua County following an armed robbery there. I, 10; XI, 94, 98-114. A second amended information charged him two counts of aggravated assault upon a law enforcement officer with a deadly weapon, one count of grand theft while armed and one count of burglary of a conveyance while armed; all events were alleged to have occurred on March 11, 1998, in Columbia County. I, 8-9.

On May 1, 2000, Appellee filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(b), on the grounds that the grand theft and burglary charges arose in Orange, and

- 1 -

not Columbia, County. I, 84. On May 11, 2000, Acting Circuit Judge David Bembry granted the motion. I, 88; the same day, an order was signed by Circuit Judge Paul S. Bryan, I, 89. On May 25, 2000, the State moved for rehearing on the motion to dismiss. I, 93. On June 22, 2000, Judge Bryan granted a motion for rehearing. I, 121. After a hearing on July 12, 2000, Judge Bryan denied the motion to dismiss. I, 139; VI, 426.

The case proceeded to jury trial, at which Appellee was found guilty as charged. II, 255-256. The facts as testified to at trial were that the owner of a repair shop had taken in a car for some work and had left it parked in front of a service bay with the ignition key in it, for convenience sake; he and an employee heard the car start up and realized it was being stolen, after which the employee got in his car and gave chase, breaking off only when Appellee threatened him with a shotgun. XI, 71, 80-82.

Appellee appealed his judgement and sentence, arguing, *inter alia*, that the motion to dismiss should have been granted as to the burglary charge. The First District Court of Appeal initially affirmed the convictions, but, upon motion for rehearing, reversed the burglary conviction on December 31, 2002, certifying conflict with <u>State v. Stephens</u>, 608 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (on reh'g). <u>Mosley v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). App. 1. The State's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed on January 30, 2003, and on May 2, 2003, this Court issued a notice that it had postponed

- 2 -

its decision on jurisdiction and established a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. The Court below erred in applying the opinion in Delgado to the facts of this case. First, this crime in this case was committed before <u>Delgado</u> was decided. Even if that were not the case, the subsequent passage of section 810.015, Florida Statutes, has rendered <u>Delgado</u> a nullity. Second, to the extent that <u>Delgado</u> applies at all, it would not apply in the context of this case, where the defendant broke into a car without permission and remained there until police captured him. There is no good policy reason not to permit the prosecution to lay venue in any county where a person who has committed burglary of a conveyance and grand theft auto is captured with the stolen vehicle, and there are good policy reasons to construe the law in this way.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON IMPROPER VENUE?

A. JURISDICTION

The court below certified express and direct conflict between its decision and State v. Stephens on the same question of law. Thus, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). The State submits that this Court should exercise its jurisdiction here, in that the conflict between this case and Stephens is irreconcilable. Under <u>Stephens</u> the State may try someone for burglary of a conveyance in either the county in which the car was broken into or in any county in which the defendant is apprehended. Under Mosley venue is only proper in the county were the illegal entry occurred. Moreover, this case raises questions as to the scope of <u>Delgado v. State</u>,776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000), which addressed the application of the "remaining in" language from Florida's burglary statute, albeit in a different context.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case presents a pure question of law, which is reviewed *de novo*. <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 12 (Fla. 2000).

C. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

- 4 -

The trial court denied the motion to dismiss without stating any rationale. I, 139; VI, 426.

D. THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION

The First District Court of Appeal reversed the lower court's ruling, holding that <u>State v. Stephens</u>, 608 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), which permitted the State to try a defendant for burglary of a conveyance in the county where the defendant was captured, even if that is a different venue from where the burglary occurred, was incorrect under the <u>Delgado</u> opinion. Mosley v. State, 842 So. 2d at 857.

E. MERITS

1. Delgado Does Not Apply To This Case

The crime in question was committed in 1998. On August 24, 2000, after the trial court had denied the motion to dismiss, this Court issued its <u>Delgado</u> opinion. In 2001, however, the legislature passed section 810.015, Florida Statutes, which states:

(1) The Legislature finds that the case of Delgado v. State, Slip Opinion No. SC88638 (Fla. 2000) was decided contrary to legislative intent and the case law of this state relating to burglary prior to Delgado v. State. The Legislature finds that in order for a burglary to occur, it is not necessary for the licensed or invited person to remain in the dwelling, structure, or conveyance surreptitiously.

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature that the holding in Delgado v. State, Slip Opinion No. SC88638 be nullified. It is further the intent of the Legislature that s. 810.02(1)(a) be construed in conformity with Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 1997); Geminis v. State, 703 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1997); Robertson v. State, 699 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1997); Routly v. State, 440 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1983); and Ray v. State, 522 So. 2d 963 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1988). This subsection shall operate retroactively to February 1, 2000.

(Emphasis supplied.)

The lower court found, based on its own decision in Foster v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1367 (Fla. 1st DCA, June 12, 2002) and Braggs v. State, 815 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (en banc), review granted, No. SC02-524 (Fla. Oct. 23, 2002),¹ that since "the Legislature cannot nullify a judicial decision retroactively" and that since this Court has not receded from Delgado, that opinion still applied in this instance, irrespective of section 810.015. 842 So. 2d at 857. The State respectfully submits that the lower court was wrong and urges this Court to recede expressly from Delgado, acknowledging, as did the court in R.C. v. State, 793 So. 2d 1078, 1079 n.1 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), that the statute has nullified Delgado.

Even without an express nullification, however, it is clear that <u>Delgado</u> does not apply. The fact that the crime in question was committed in 1998 appears to be crucial. This Court's opinion in <u>Jiminez v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 2002) is illustrative. Jiminez filed a postconviction motion challenging

¹ The <u>Braggs</u> court certified the following question as being of great public importance: "WHETHER SECTION ONE OF CHAPTER 2001-58, LAWS OF FLORIDA, HAS LEGISLATIVELY OVERRULED DELGADO v. STATE, 776 SO. 2D 233 (Fla. 2000), FOR CRIMES COMMITTED ON OR BEFORE JULY 1 2001?" 815 So. 2d at 661.

his 1991 burglary conviction based on <u>Delgado</u>, and this Court rejected his challenge, noting:

His convictions were final prior to the release of our opinion in Delgado. Retroactivity is therefore determined by the criteria set forth in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). order for *Delgado* to have retroactive In application, it must: (1) emanate either from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) be constitutional in nature; and (3) have fundamental significance. Id. at 929-30. We have determined that Delgado does not meet the second or third prongs of the Witt test; hence it is not subject to retroactive application. See Delgado, 776 So.2d at 241. Moreover, in its most recent session, the Legislature declared that Delqado was decided contrary to legislative intent and that this Court's interpretation of the burglary statute in Geminis's direct appeal was in harmony with legislative intent.

810 So. 2d at 512-513. Appellee's case is, like <u>Jiminez</u>, based on a crime that occurred before <u>Delgado</u>. If <u>Delgado</u> does not meet the <u>Witt</u> test for retroactivity, then neither does this case. Other courts have declined to consider <u>Delgado</u> issues when the crime occurred prior to that opinion being issued. <u>Schrack</u> <u>v. State</u>, 793 So. 2d 1102, 1104 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); <u>R.C. v.</u> <u>State</u>.

Thus, there appears to be no "Delgado window," i.e., a certain period of time during which the holding applies, inasmuch as that opinion misapprehended the legislative intent in including the phrase "remaining in" in the burglary statute, and the Legislature has expressly noted that the Court misapprehended its intent. Likewise, there is no reason to apply the decision here, where no one below relied upon it.

- 7 -

2. The District Court of Appeal Misapplied Delgado

Even if <u>Delgado</u> were to apply, it would not apply to the facts set out here. It is clear that <u>Delgado</u> is limited to situations where the initial entry was lawful. "The 'remaining in' language applies only in situations where the accused remains in a dwelling of another surreptitiously." <u>Alexandre v. State</u>, 834 So. 2d 344, 346 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). This distinction was noted in <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 432, 460 n. 13. <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 2002 WL 1926223 at *13, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S697 (Fla. August 22, 2002).

While this Court, in <u>Floyd</u>, has approved applying <u>Delgado</u> to burglary of a conveyance (relying on <u>Valentine v. State</u>, 774 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>review dismissed</u> 790 So. 2d 1111 (Fla. 2001), at most <u>Delgado</u> stands for the principle that a person who enters a dwelling, structure or conveyance with consent and later commits a crime therein is not guilty of burglary, unless the "remaining in" was performed surreptitiously. 776 So. 2d at 240.

That situation is not what happened here, where the defendant did not have permission to be in the car at any time. <u>Delgado</u> does not require that any remaining-in burglary be a consensualentry case; it requires that any remaining-in burglary show evidence of surreptitious entry. Moreover, inasmuch as <u>Delgado</u> arose in the context of an invitee who turns violent, rather than a car thief who is not apprehended until he has left the county, the reasoning in that case is not applicable.

```
- 8 -
```

In <u>Delgado</u> this Court considered a first-degree felony murder conviction where the underlying felony was burglary. The victims' bodies were found inside their home, and there was no evidence of forced entry by the defendant, who was an acquaintance. The Court noted:

> The State prosecuted this case on the premise that appellant's entry into the victims' home was consensual (i.e., appellant was invited to enter the victims' home) but that at some point, this consent was withdrawn.

776 So. 2d at 236. The Court stated the issue first broadly:

The issue for this Court to consider is whether the phrase "remaining in" found in Florida's burglary statute should be limited to situations where the suspect enters lawfully and subsequently secretes himself or herself from the host.

Id. at 238, but later narrowed its focus as follows:

The question before this Court is whether the Legislature intended to criminalize the particular conduct in this case as burglary when it added the phrase "remaining in" to the burglary statute.

<u>Id.</u> at 239, 240. The conduct in question is entry without permission. In this case, Appellee sneaked into the car while it was awaiting repair and drove off with it.

As a close analysis of <u>Delgado</u> demonstrates, what the Court sought to avoid is criminalizing otherwise innocent conduct. In the opinion the Court traced the development of the "remaining in" language in burglary statutes, and determined that the phrase should be limited to "stealthy" remaining. The Court noted:

- 9 -

At common law, burglary was defined as breaking and entering the dwelling house of another at night with the intent to commit a felony therein. See Model Penal Code, § 221.1 cmt. 1 at 61 (1980). The commentary to the Model Penal Code explains that the crime of burglary developed due to an effort to compensate for defects in the common law crime of attempt. See id. at 62-63. Over time, the definition of burglary has been expanded as a judicial interpretation result of and legislation. The following definition of burglary was approved in 1962 for the Model Penal Code:

(1) Burglary Defined. A person is guilty of burglary if he enters a building or occupied structure, or separately secured or occupied portion thereof, with purpose to commit a crime therein, unless the premises are at the time open to the public or the actor is licensed or privileged to enter. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution for burglary that the building or structure was abandoned.

Id. § 221.1(1) at 60-61. The commentary explains that this definition attempted to limit the reach of the crime:

The offense has thus been limited in the Model Code to the invasion of premises under circumstances especially likely to terrorize occupants. Most of the extensions of the offense that have been added by legislation over the years have been discarded.

Id. cmt. 2 at 67 (emphasis added).

The comment also addresses the concept of unprivileged entry. The comment urges those states that have adopted the concept of "remaining in" within their statutes to limit the language to narrow circumstances involving a suspect who surreptitiously remains in premises after consensual entry:

There is a difficulty with the ["remains unlawfully"] language, however, that should lead to its rejection. As the Brown Commission pointed out, it literally would include "a visitor to one's home ... who becomes involved in an argument with his host, threatens to punch him in the nose, and is asked to leave; if he does not leave, but continues his threatening argument, he would ... be guilty of burglary." For this reason, the Final Report of the Brown Commission included in the burglary offense one who entered or "surreptitiously" remained without license or privilege.

Id. cmt. 3(a) at 68-71 (emphasis added) (footnote omitted). Other scholars agree that the "remaining in" language found in some state statutes should have limited application:

This common statutory expansion in the definition of burglary makes great sense. A lawful entry does not foreclose the kind of intrusion burglary is designed to reach, as illustrated by the case of a bank customer who hides in the bank until it closes and then takes the bank's money. Moreover, this expansion forecloses any argument by a defendant found in premises then closed that he had entered earlier when they were open. But for this expansion not also to cover certain other situations in which the unlawful remaining ought not be treated as limit burglary, it is best to the remaining-within alternative to where that conduct is done surreptitiously.

776 So. 2d at 236-237 (citations, footnotes omitted). Of special interest for this case is the emphasized passage from the comment to the Modern Penal Code: "The offense has thus been limited in the Model Code to the invasion of premises under circumstances especially likely to terrorize occupants." This point was emphasized in footnote 2. which said:

> When a person comes onto property by lawful means, he remains criminally accountable only for the acts he thereafter performs on the property, but his entry in itself imposes no special terror or invasion of privacy on the

> > - 11 -

property holder so as to render the culprit guilty of burglary.

776 So. 2d at 243, n.2. Thus, there would be a good reason **not** to apply the rationale of <u>Delgado</u> to the situation presented here. Someone who slips unnoticed into a car awaiting repair at a service station has invaded the property of another person, and thus deserves to be guilty of burglary.

The court below mistakenly reasoned that "remaining in" burglary can only be committed when the initial entry was lawful. <u>Delgado</u> did not address that question, nor did <u>Floyd</u>, nor did <u>Valentine</u>, where the entry was apparently consensual. The rationale in <u>Delgado</u> was to prohibit convictions for lawful acts. It was at least trespass for Appellee to enter the victim's car, so the rationale simply does not apply.

The court below did not answer the question on venue grounds or principles; it apparently felt precedent-bound by <u>Delgado</u>, even though it mis-read and over-applied that case. There is good authority for the proposition that the State should be able to lay venue in more than one county for burglary of a conveyance. For example, sections 910.02, and 910.03, Florida Statutes, make venue a defendant's choice when the actual county where the crime was perpetrated is unknown. Under section 910.04, Florida Statutes, someone who aids, abets or procures the commission of a crime in one county may be tried in the county where the aiding, abetting or procuring took place or in the county where the crime was committed. Similarly, under

- 12 -

section 910.05, Florida Statues, multiple acts constituting a single offense may be tried in any county were one of the acts occurred. A person who is in one county and commits an offense in another, or inflicts an injury in one county that causes death in another, may be tried in either county. §§910.06, 910.09, Fla. Stat. Finally, a person who steals property in one county and moves it to another may be tried in either county (which is why venue for the grand theft auto charge was proper in Columbia County). §910.10, Fla Stat. The "defendant's choice" provision does not apply to sections 910.04, 910.05, 910.06, 910.09, or 910.10.

This case shows why construing the burglary statute to support venue for burglary of a conveyance in the county of capture makes sense. Here, grand theft auto was triable in Columbia County, meaning the victim had to testify that the car in question was his and that he did not give it to the Appellee. If the lower court's decision is affirmed, he will have to testify again in the burglary trial, to establish that Appellee did not have permission to enter his car.

More to the point, any subsequent cases where the defendant breaks into a car to steal it in one county and is captured in another will require either two trials or that the State have no choice in venue. Typically, this would mean that the victim witness would reside in one county while the witnesses who could establish the defendant's possession of the vehicle - usually law enforcement personnel - would reside elsewhere. Thus, the

- 13 -

State would have to choose between inconveniencing the victim or the police agency.² The defendant, meanwhile, would not necessarily suffer any particular hardship for being tried in one county as opposed to another.

² For some small agencies, out-of-town travel could be a drain on limited financial and personnel resources.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the decision of the District Court of Appeal reported at 842 So. 2d 855 should be disapproved, the decision in <u>State v. Stephens</u>, 609 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) and the order entered in the trial court should be affirmed.