IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

State of Florida,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SCO3-179

Christopher Bryant Mosley

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NANCY L. SHOWALTER

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 0513199 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal by the state of the First District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case which reversed the defendant/respondent's burglary conviction.

The fourteen-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R" followed by the volume and page number. The petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits will be referred to as "IB." For consistency, the respondent will follow the outline of the petitioner's Initial Brief.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The statement of the facts and case presented by the Petitioner omits certain facts which are necessary to a resolution of this cause, as follows:

The vehicle involved was taken from a repair shop in Orange County on January 28, 1998. (R XI 71, 80) Forty-two days later, on March 11, 1998, Columbia County Sheriff officers stopped the vehicle in Columbia County. (R XI 94-99, 101, R XII 227) The respondent, Mosley, was identified as the driver and only occupant of the car. A BB gun was recovered from the vehicle. (R XI 110, R XII 213-216, 238-239)

Mosley was arrested and charged by information in Columbia County with offenses resulting from the events of March 11, 1998. At a pretrial conference in July, 1998, the case was continued and it was noted that Mosley was then in federal custody. (R I 60) The cause proceeded to trial on September 1, 2000.

On appeal, Mosley argued that the trial court erred in denying the pretrial motion to dismiss and the motion for judgement of acquittal made during trial based on venue. (Appendix A - Issue I)

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are two manners of committing burglary, by a nonconsensual *entering* with an intent to commit an offense therein; or, where the initial entry was lawful, by surreptitiously *remaining* with an intent to commit an offense therein. <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla. 2000). In the instant case, the undisputed facts established that the initial entry was not consensual or lawful. Therefore, only the "entering" method of committing burglary was applicable.

The District Court of Appeal correctly determined the act constituting the offense of burglary - the entry of the vehicle with intent to commit auto theft - was committed and completed in Orange County, and only Orange County. The entry did not continue over the next forty-two days until the respondent's arrest in Columbia County. The state failed to prove, even to the lesser standard of a reasonable certainty, that Columbia County was the correct venue, as alleged in the information. The trial court erred in denying the respondent's pretrial motion to dismiss and motion for judgement of acquittal on the burglary count. The District Court correctly reversed the respondent's conviction for burglary. This Court should affirm that holding.

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REVERSED THE RESPONDENT'S CONVICTION FOR BURGLARY DUE TO LACK OF VENUE, AS THE UNDISPUTED FACTS ESTABLISH THE OFFENSE OCCURRED SOLELY IN ORANGE COUNTY, RATHER THAN COLUMBIA COUNTY AS ALLEGED IN THE INFORMATION.

The information alleged the offense of burglary occurred in, and only in, Columbia County. However, the evidence established that the offense occurred in, and only in, Orange County. The District Court of Appeal reversed the respondent's burglary conviction, stating: "because this case involves an unlawful entry, the "remaining in" theory of burglary is inapplicable and cannot form a basis for venue in Columbia County. <u>Mosley v. State</u>, 842 So.2d 855, 858 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

A. JURISDICTION

The petitioner asks this Court to exercise its jurisdiction to resolve an 'irreconcilable' conflict between the District Court's opinion herein and <u>State v. Stephens</u>, 608 So2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). This court need not do so, as the conflict has already been resolved by this Court's opinion in <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla. 2000).

In <u>Stephens</u>, the district court concluded that burglary of a conveyance can be committed in "one of two alternative

ways: by breaking into the conveyance or by remaining in it with the intent to commit some other crime therein." The district court specifically rejected Stephens' argument that the "remaining in" language of the burglary statute applied only to an entry which was initially lawful, and the defendant later formed an unlawful intent to steal and remained therein. Id., at 907.

However, the reasoning of the <u>Stephens</u> decision is no longer valid in light of this Court's subsequent decision in <u>Delgado</u>, in which it concluded that, in conformity with the original intent of Florida's burglary statue, the "remaining in" language applies only in situations where the initial entry was lawful, but the "remaining in" was done surreptitiously. Since <u>Delgado</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal now recognizes that the theory it rejected in <u>Stephens</u> - that the "remaining in" language of the burglary statute does not apply where the original entry was unlawful - is now accepted law:

In Delgado, which was originally decided one month before this case went to trial, [footnote omitted] the Florida Supreme Court interpreted the "remaining in" language used in Florida's burglary statute to permit a conviction for burglary for remaining in a conveyance or structure only when a defendant "surreptitiously" remained in a structure or conveyance. . . . However, because this is not a case where the facts could support a "surreptitious

remaining," Valentine could not be convicted of burglary unless he had the requisite intent when he entered the vehicle.

<u>Valentine v. State</u>, 774 So.2d 934, 937 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). This Court recently cited <u>Valentine</u>, with approval, in <u>Floyd</u> <u>v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S697 (Fla. August 22, 2002) *reh'g denied*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S468 (Fla. Jun. 12, 2003).

E. MERITS:

1. <u>Delgado</u> is applicable to this case.

The petitioner asks this court to expressly recede from <u>Delgado</u> and acknowledge that Florida Statute, section 810.015 (2001), has nullified <u>Delgado</u>. (IB 6) However, whether <u>Delgado</u> was nullified by section 810.015 is irrelevant to the instant case. By its wording, section 810.015 states that it shall be retroactive to February 1, 2000. The offense here occurred prior to that date. Thus, even if the retroactivity clause is taken as valid, the statute does not encompass the instant offense. <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S697, fn 29, (Fla. August 22, 2002) *reh'g denied*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S468 (Fla. Jun. 12, 2003) ("because the events in Floyd's case do not fall within the window established by the Legislature for retroactive application of section 810.015(2), we need not address the issue of the retroactive effect of the statute".)

<u>Delgado</u>, however, is applicable to the instant case. Although the offense occurred in 1998, the case did not proceed to trial until 2000¹. A second amended information was filed on August 31, 2000; seven days after the <u>Delgado</u> decision. The trial was held on September 1, 2000. In <u>Delgado</u>, this Court stated:

This opinion will not, however, apply retroactively to convictions that have become final.

<u>Id.</u>, at 241.

Thus, while Petitioner looks only to the date of the offense, the pertinent question is whether the respondent's conviction was final prior to August 24, 2000. It was not.

Petitioner quotes <u>Jiminez v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2002) wherein this Court clearly states that the pertinent issue is whether the "conviction were final prior to the release of <u>Delgado</u>."² (IB 6) Nevertheless, here the

¹The petitioner was apparently in federal custody during this time. (R I 60)

² The offenses in *Jiminez* occurred on October 2, 1992; the trial occurred in 1994; the initial appeal was decided in 1997. *Jiminez v. State*, 703 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1997). This Court held that Jiminez's convictions were final prior to the release of *Delgado*.

petitioner focuses only on the date the offense occurred, not when the conviction was final. (IB 7)

The cases cited by the petitioner do not support its "date of offense" theory. In <u>Schrack v. State</u>, 793 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) the court held the case was "unaffected by <u>Delgado</u>" in that it involved entrance gained into a home by trick or fraud, which would support a conviction for burglary. The district court found that <u>Delgado</u> "does not change this general principle of law." In a footnote, the district court stated that because the events occurred prior to February 1, 2000, it would not discuss the enactment of section 810.015. Thus, <u>Schrack</u>'s reference to the date of offense was in relation to the date of the retroactivity of the statute, not the application of the <u>Delgado</u> decision. The petitioner's reliance on <u>R.C. v. State</u>, 793 So.2d 1978 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) is likewise misplaced.

Again, the <u>Delgado</u> decision clearly states that it applies to convictions which were not yet final. Thus, the definition of burglary as stated in <u>Delgado</u> was a correct statement of the law prior to the time the respondent's conviction became final. *See*, <u>Bunkly v. Florida</u>, 123 S.Ct. 2020, 16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S 317 (May 27, 2003).

2. The District Court of Appeal properly applied Delgado:

Petitioner's argument claiming a misapplication of Delgado focuses on the events in Orange County at the time the car was entered and stolen. Petitioner notes that "someone who slips unnoticed into a car awaiting repair at a service station has invaded the property of another person, and thus deserves to be guilty of burglary." (IB 11) The problem with this argument is that those events occurred in Orange County and are not the events for which the respondent was charged and convicted in Columbia County. The information alleged the offense of burglary occurred in, and only in, Columbia County. However, the evidence established that the burglary offense occurred in, and only in, Orange County. This was the basis of the respondent's pretrial motion to dismiss for lack of venue and motion for judgement of acquittal at trial, as well as the direct appeal regarding the denial of those motions. (Appendix A - Issue I) Indeed, this was the basis for the District Court's reversal of the Columbia County burglary conviction. Mosley, at 856,857-858. Based on the facts of this case, it is clear that the District Court properly applied <u>Delgado</u>.

Petitioner claims the District Court "mistakenly reasoned that 'remaining in' burglary can only be committed when the

initial entry was lawful." (IB 11) The District Court's reasoning was no mistake, but rather, was based on this Court's decision in <u>Delgado</u> and subsequent decisions.

In <u>Delgado</u> this Court held:

The issue for this Court to consider is whether the phrase "remaining in" found in Florida's burglary statute should be limited to situations where the suspect enters lawfully and subsequently secretes himself or herself from the host.

* * *

The question before this Court is whether the Legislature intended to criminalize the particular conduct in this case as burglary when it added the phrase "remaining in" to the burglary statute. [FN4] The Third District Court in Ray correctly pointed out that some meaning must be given to the phrase "remaining in." See 522 So.2d at 967 ("Just as the consent defense must be given meaning, so must the "remaining in" alternative."). Yet, in giving meaning to the phrase "remaining in," the Third District Court has effectively wiped out the clause "unless ... the defendant is licensed or invited to enter." Under the Third District Court's reasoning, even if a defendant was licensed or invited to enter, the moment he or she commits an offense in the presence of an aware host, a burglary is committed. Therefore, in order to give meaning to the entire burglary statute (the "remaining in" clause and the "unless" clause), the "remaining in" clause should be limited to the defendant who surreptitiously remains.

<u>Id.</u>, at 238, 239-240.

This Court's decision in <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 818 So.2d 432 (Fla. 2002) proves that it meant what it said in <u>Delgado</u>. In Morrison the defendant claimed that since he was an invitee into the victim's dwelling, there was insufficient proof of burglary under <u>Delgado</u>. The Court rejected this argument, finding the facts did not support the claim that the defendant was an invitee:

Therefore, Morrison's reliance on *Delgado v. State*, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla.2000), is misplaced, because this is not an instance where a defendant initially has consent to enter the dwelling and then that consent is subsequent -ly withdrawn. In the instant case, the State maintained that Morrison never had consent to enter the victim's apartment. Thus, the jury was never asked to consider a "legally inadequate" theory of burglary as was at issue in *Delgado*.

Morrison, at 453, fn 13. (emphasis added)

This limitation on the 'remaining in' theory of burglary has been followed by each of the five District Courts: Mosley; Steverson v. State, 787 So.2d 165, 167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)(under <u>Delgado</u>, "a burglary based on the "remaining in a structure" provision was limited to factual situations where the defendant enters a structure lawfully and subsequently secretes himself or herself from the host"); <u>Hernandez v.</u> <u>State</u>, ____ Fla. L. Weekly ___ (Fla. 3rd DCA June 25, 2003)("The "remaining in" language in a burglary instruction only applies in situations where the "remaining in" is surreptitious."); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 828 So.2d 445, 446 (Fla 4th DCA 2002)("In *Delgado* ... the supreme court held that the "remaining in" language applied only in situations where the remaining was

done surreptitiously."); <u>Valentine v. State</u>, 774 So.2d 934, 937 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)("the Florida Supreme Court interpreted the "remaining in" language used in Florida's burglary statute to permit a conviction for burglary for remaining in a conveyance or structure only when a defendant "surreptitiously" remained in a structure or conveyance.").

3. The District Court properly concluded there was no venue in Columbia County for the burglary count.

The state claims that the District Court's opinion was not based on "venue grounds or principles." (IB 12) However, citing to the Florida Constitutional provision and Florida Statutes section regarding venue, the District Court specifically stated its reversal was based on improper venue:

We reserve the burglary conviction, because the charged was tried in the wrong **venue...**

The Florida Constitution gives a defendant the right to be tried in the county where the crime takes place. See Art. I, § 16, Fla. Const. When the acts constituting the crime are committed in two or more counties, however, the trial may be held in any county where any of the criminal acts occurred. See § 910.05, Fla. Stat. (1997). Venue is an essential element of the crime charged, and if the defendant can show that the crime did not occur in the venue alleged in the charging document, or that the prosecution has not presented sufficient proof that the crime occurred in the county where the trial was held, the conviction cannot stand. See Tucker v. State, 459 So.2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1984).

Turning to the facts of this case, we agree with appellant that there is no evidence of burglary by

unlawful entry of the vehicle in Columbia County so as to permit trial in Columbia County. The record shows that the Columbia County officers received a BOLO which advised them that the highway patrol was in pursuit of a stolen car that had just been involved in an armed robbery in Gainesville, Alachua County. The Columbia County officers joined the hot pursuit and arrested appellant when he drove into a ditch in Columbia County. Thus, as appellant asserts, there is absolutely no evidence that he unlawfully entered the car in Columbia County; rather he was pursued nonstop from one county to another while already in the vehicle.

As explained above, because this case involves an unlawful entry, the "remaining in" theory of burglary is inapplicable and cannot form a basis for **venue** in Columbia County. **Venue** was therefore improper in Columbia County, and the burglary conviction must be reversed. *See id.* at 308.

Mosley, at 856,857-858 (emphasis added).

Florida Statutes, sections 910.03, establishes venue in the county in which an offense was committed. Petitioner's recitation of the exceptions to section 910.03, created by sections 910.04, 910.05, 910.06, 910.09 and 910.10, clearly shows that the legislature, despite having the ability to do so, has not created an exception applicable to the instant case. (IB 12) The statutory interpretation maxim "expressio unius est exclusio alterius"[the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another] applies. This Court is without authority to do as petitioner advocates, that is, judicially amend the venue statute. (IB 13)

V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and authority presented, appellant requests that this Court affirm the District Court's opinion on <u>Mosley v. State</u>, 842 So.2d 855, 858 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), reversing his conviction for burglary.